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The only known image of Alexander Kellas together with his sherpas. Taken at Tangu Dak bungalow sometime before 1914.
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A Note on Nomenclature


Himalayan nomenclature is a problematic issue. We have retained the original usage of place and mountain names by Kellas and others in the quoted text, but after first citation in the main text tried to utilise standard modern map usage, as far as was possible.
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Map 1 The Cairngorm Mountains, Scotland
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Map 2 The Valais and Bernese Oberland, Switzerland
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Map 3 Sikkim, India
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Map 4 Garhwal, India
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Map 5 The Kamet Glacier, 1920
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Map 6 Route of the Everest Expedition, 1921









Foreword





ALEXANDER KELLAS at his death in 1921, and for a considerable number of years afterwards, had an unrivalled reputation in the world of Himalayan Mountaineering.


This reputation was based upon the number of Himalayan climbs achieved, the lightweight style of his ascents and explorations, being the first to really champion the abilities of the Sherpa and his knowledge of high altitude physiology, which was second to none. For the latter reason alone he was such an important member of the 1921 Everest Reconnaissance Expedition during which he died.


Strangely, since the 1950s reference to Kellas in relevant mountaineering literature has diminished to the point where his achievements are all but unknown to the vast majority of mountaineers.


He did not write books of his exploits that perpetuated the memory of those contemporaries that did, such as Mummery, Collie, Younghusband, Longstaff and others to follow.


This book is therefore timely if not long overdue. In it the reader will discover all the climbs and explorations Kellas made, and it traces from early schoolboy days his journey from the Cairngorm Mountains to the remote Himalayan peaks of Sikkim and the Garhwal.


There is much more to this story than simply a list of events, for it is not only about his life but also about the times in which Kellas lived. It is good to be reminded just how fit our predecessors were before the motor car; in 1885 aged 17 he and his younger brother Henry walked the 35 miles from Ballater to the Shelter Stone in 12 hours, excluding an hour’s rest. The latter part of the journey being over rough country into the heart of the Cairngorm Mountains.


Kellas had without doubt enormous stamina and was able to keep going with inadequate food, clothes, and shelter for days at a time when young, which characterised his later Himalayan explorations. There are many threads running through the narrative that help us understand Kellas’ journey through life. It was a life that was extremely hard and often lonely since he appears to have been set apart from full social contact by inner voices leading to quite severe psychosis in later life.


It was only in the Himalaya, it seems, that he could find relief and be at peace with himself in the company of local people looking around the next corner or over that distant col. I had to read this book to write this foreword but once started I found it a compulsive and fascinating account of one of the great pioneers of Himalayan climbing.


Doug Scott


Kathmandu









Introduction





EVERY BOOK HAS ITS own particular genesis, but the current volume’s origin was possibly more particular than most, and involved a good deal of serendipity. Both of its authors had been independent admirers of Kellas for some time, but were unaware of each other’s interest in the man and his achievement, or even of each other’s existence.


To his shame Ian Mitchell had not heard of Alec Kellas until shortly before the celebrations of the 50th anniversary of the first ascent of Everest in 2003, when the mountaineer’s name floated occasionally to the surface, though without there being any proper recognition of his real stature. It may be argued that few others were aware of the Scottish Himalayan pioneer either, but Ian was born and bred in Aberdeen, as was Kellas himself, and spent his mountaineering apprenticeship in the Cairngorm Mountains – as had Kellas himself. To rectify this neglect Ian wrote a popular piece outlining some of Kellas’ main mountaineering achievements for the Scots Magazine in 2003, based largely on the obituaries published at his death in 1921. Pressure of other work prevented him then carrying this interest forward, as did his awareness that he lacked the scientific background to be able to contemplate undertaking a full biography of his fellow Aberdonian, who was both a mountaineer and a high-altitude physiologist.


George Rodway was fortunate in that his scientific and professional training brought him into contact with the eminent high-altitude physiologist John B West, whose admiration for Kellas had led him to the publishing of several articles on the neglected mountaineer, and also to the publishing of long-forgotten material by Kellas himself, from the 1980s onwards. George found a passion for Kellas was infectious and he too began to correct this historical oversight with the publication of various materials, mainly in scientific journals. Then in 2005 he wrote an article for the Scottish Mountaineering Club Journal on Kellas’ preparatory work for the first Everest Expedition, including an assessment of his scientific high-altitude biology work on Kamet.


It was over three years later when circumstances allowed Ian’s thoughts to return to Kellas, and when talking casually to Laura Mitchell (no relation) of the BBC in Aberdeen, with whom he was working on a totally different project, he mentioned that he was interested in the unsung mountaineer from the city. ‘He was an ancestor of mine,’ Laura informed him, and subsequently she sent Ian family materials of interest. Spurred on by this chance discovery, Ian wrote an initial letter to George inquiring as to the latter’s further intentions regarding Kellas, and George replied by return with the offer of a joint project, confessing himself not equipped to deal with the Scottish background, and with no prospect of having the time to become so for many years.


It was a fortuitous fit. Ian knew the Scottish material, and could cover Kellas’ period in London and also his Alpine experience, whilst George was not only a high altitude physiologist but also a Himalayan mountaineer, being familiar with Kellas’ main area of exploration and ascents in Sikkim. Both were experienced in collaborative writing ventures. It is a collaboration which has taken George back to Sikkim, Ian to the Alps, and both of us to Kellas’ beloved spot at the Shelter Stone in the Cairngorm mountains, where we survived a hurricane and the consumption of a bottle of malt whisky. Hopefully the appearance of this full-scale biography of Alexander Kellas will help to establish – or rather re-establish after three-quarters of a century of neglect – his reputation as a great Himalayan mountaineering pioneer, in the year of the centenary of his annus mirabilis, when Kellas not only climbed several virgin Himalayan peaks over 20,000ft, but also ascended – in Pauhunri – the highest summit then ascended by man. Tragically Kellas was unaware of this as measurements a century ago erroneously gave the height of Trisul, ascended by Longstaff in 1907, as being greater than that of Pauhunri. As with many other aspects of Kellas’ achievement, this work aims to set the record straight.


Ian R Mitchell


George W Rodway












CHAPTER ONE


The North East Scotland Background





Aberdeen and the Cairngorm Club


ALEXANDER MITCHELL KELLAS, arguably Scotland’s greatest ever Himalayan mountaineer and one of the foremost in the world during his own lifetime, is today a largely neglected figure. He was born in Aberdeen in 1868 and there was little in his background or his early life that might have suggested that Kellas would become a leading pioneer in the Greater Ranges, exploring and climbing widely in the Sikkim and Garhwal areas, and dying on the initial Reconnaissance Expedition to Mount Everest itself in 1921. He thus became Everest’s first ‘martyr’ and was commemorated in a memorial at the foot of the Rongbuk Glacier (unfortunately destroyed by souvenier hunters in recent years), which was also a memento mori for (in addition to the seven Sherpas who died in 1922 and the further two who perished two years later) the much more famous duo of Mallory and Irvine, who were killed in the subsequent 1924 Everest summit attempt.


The Kellas name is quite a common one in the North East of Scotland from whence Alexander and his forebears hailed, and is of some antiquity. Alexander’s father, James Fowler Kellas, used to tell the tale that the triple sibling founders of the family had originally fled after some misadventures from Kellas in Morayshire, possibly during the civil and religious strife of the 17th century. The three fugitive brothers settled in the lands of Upper Donside – in Strathdon, Corgarff and Deskryside – and took the name Kellas from the land of their origins.1 Today there are still many Kellases on Upper Donside. The family emerges from the mists of legend with Alexander Kellas (1738–1794), a tenant farmer at Newton in Glen Nochty on Donside, who was almost certainly an illicit distiller, as were all Glen Nochty men at that time. He was the great-grandfather of the mountaineer.


AM Kellas’ actual grandfather, also called Alexander, was born in 1783 in Glen Nochty. But he moved sometime early in the 19th century from the delightful rolling hills and forests of the headwaters of the River Don, shifting about 30 miles eastwards to the lowland farming countryside around the village of Skene, about ten miles west of the rapidly growing city of Aberdeen. There at Crombie Cottage by Skene, Alexander Kellas and his wife, whose maiden name was possibly Fowler, farmed. According to family legend, Alexander had been kicked by a horse and was slightly lame. This probably compounded his difficulties at a time when farming in the North East of Scotland was undergoing rapid and painful transformations.


The middle to later 19th century was a time of crisis for the tenant farmers of Aberdeenshire, who were facing rising rents and falling prices for their produce. The movement towards the creation of larger farms squeezed the small farmer, who often had to give up hope of maintaining his economic independence, and was forced to take up a position as a farm labourer, or to migrate to the town of Aberdeen for industrial work. It was a time of social and economic agitation, both from tenant farmers’ associations for lower rents, and from the emerging farm labourers’ trades unions, for higher wages.2


Alexander Kellas, tenant farmer in Skene, appears to have been a victim of this economic process, since financial losses forced him to give up the lease on his farm and to take a croft. Crofting was a largely self-sufficient form of farming, leaving a small surplus of produce to be sold on the market, and a definite step down from being a tenant farmer. Alexander died in the town of Aberdeen in 1862, which might indicate that he eventually lost even his croft-holding. At Crombie Cottage in Skene in 1821 was born James Fowler Kellas, the only son born to the Kellases, who also had four daughters.


James Fowler Kellas, who would become the father of the later Himalayan explorer, would have had no thought of entering farming at a time of agricultural economic crisis, so instead of following in the path of his father Alexander, he went into business, moving into Aberdeen early in life. He was apparently involved in railway contracting at a time when the railways were still expanding from the earlier-constructed main line to Aberdeen from the south, into the branch lines being built throughout the North East of Scotland in the 1850s and ’60s. But – again according to the family tradition – James lost all his money when his partner (an Englishman) absconded with their joint capital. At some point James married Jeannie Nickleson, known as ‘Bonny Jeannie’. Her face must have been her fortune, for her father was a journeyman blacksmith, a respectable but proletarian trade. The couple lived first in Marischal Street, a thoroughfare formerly consisting of grand 18th century town houses, though by the middle of the 19th century many of these buildings had become overcrowded city centre slums. Later the Kellases moved to Crown Street further from the city centre, this move in all likelihood indicating a rise in social status.


This slow rise up the social ladder was reflected in the fact that James Fowler Kellas could send his first son, also called James, to Bellvue Academy – a fee-paying school – and then to Kings College, Aberdeen University. But the precarious nature of the family’s upward mobility was shown by the apprenticing of the second son William Clark Kellas as a ship’s carpenter, a decidedly working-class occupation. This latter offspring subsequently died of an untreated chill at 19 years old.


James Fowler Kellas’ first wife Jeannie herself died of complications during her third pregnancy. James married again, to Elizabeth, the sister of Jeannie Nickleson, naming the daughter of that issue Jeannie, and on his second wife dying, married for a third time to Mary Boyd Mitchell. She was to be the mother of the mountaineer Alexander – who was to be one of the nine children she bore James. By this time, the year 1868, the couple were living at 28 Regent Quay in Aberdeen. This is given on his birth certificate as Alexander Mitchell Kellas’ place of birth, children at that time generally being born at home. Mary Mitchell hailed from Ballater, 40 miles west of Aberdeen, and the Kellases, including Alexander, were to maintain links with the Deeside town through family holidays. Ballater lay on the edge of the Cairngorm mountains, with the peak of Lochnagar being visible from the town, and visits to the village would likely have provided the young Alexander with his first views of mountain scenery as a boy. Ballater was reached by train from Aberdeen in the 1860s.


As well as bringing the Kellases relations in the countryside with whom to holiday, James’ marriage to Mary would also have brought him economic advantages (the tradition of the wife’s marriage dowry was still extant at this time), for her own family were prosperous farmers. Mary’s brother Alexander farmed at Sluivannichie just outside Ballater, where he rented 90 acres from the Invercauld estate and ran a big farm employing four resident farm servants. He was also a horse dealer and hirer, and managed an extensive coaching business, taking tourists from the Ballater railhead to the various scenic attractions on Upper Deeside. This was an enterprise requiring substantial capital investment and indicates that the Mitchells were a family enjoying definite affluence. Just as the future Himalayan mountaineer’s paternal grandparents had been victims of the economic change in the Aberdeenshire countryside, his maternal ones had clearly been its beneficiaries. The farm-house of Sluivannichie still stands, and remains within the Mitchell family, descendants of Alexander Mitchell being the present owners. The farm however was sold off and today its former land is largely occupied by Ballater Golf Course.


Regent Quay is right at the heart of Aberdeen’s dock and harbour area, and cheek by jowl with what was the massively overcrowded slum city centre at that time.3 It might thus at first seem that James Kellas’ fortunes had taken another downturn, reflected in the residential move to No. 28, but the opposite was actually the case. The couple lived for some years at this address in a flat provided in the building above the offices of what was the Aberdeen Mercantile Marine Board. James Fowler Kellas had become Secretary to the Mercantile Marine Board at a time of Aberdeen’s greatest economic expansion, involving the extension and almost complete remodelling of Aberdeen’s docks and harbour, to deal with the economic boom at the time, and the massive increase in its maritime trade.4 The Mercantile Marine Board was a quango, consisting of representatives from the Aberdeen shipowners and from the Board of Trade (a government department) and it was presided over by the city’s Lord Provost (the Scottish equivalent of a Mayor).


The tasks of the Mercantile Marine Board were various, including running the Royal Naval Reserve (consisting of merchant seamen who pledged to serve in the Royal Navy in wartime and were paid a retainer for the commitment), but mainly its work consisted in the examination and certification of marine engineers, navigators and seamen in their trades and crafts. It also ran a Merchant Seamen’s Fund and Savings Bank, and would have overseen the implementation of legislation like the Merchant Shipping Act of 1875, intent on improving safety at sea. The residence at 28 Regent’s Quay – now No. 49 – was above the Marine Board offices and the whole building was a substantial three storey granite-built merchant’s house built in 1787, with fine, very striking, Venetian windows. A side door into the building at No. 29 gave access to a ship’s chandlers’ business, and all around were the butchers, bakers and candlestick-makers supplying the needs of the local shipping fleet. Today the entire building has been renovated and turned into flatted dwellings.
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ABERDEEN HARBOUR IN 1875.


The scene a couple of hundred yards from the Kellas’ house on Regent Quay, where Alec lived at this time. Notice the dominance of sailing boats, many working the China/India run. An exciting place to be a boy.


The Kellases moved into Regent’s Quay in 1867, and left in 1878 when Alec was ten years old. He thus grew up in an exciting place at an exciting time, and as a boy must have watched – even if only through the window of the house – the bustle of the dockside, and the coming and going of the ships, including the renowned ‘clipper’ ships like the world-famous Thermopylae, built in Aberdeen to carry tea back from the China run. His first decade on the harbour-side would have given the boy an idea of a wider world beyond the North East. Though the Kellas’ house – and certain others around, in which in 1868 some of Aberdeen’s elite still resided – were grand later 18th or early 19th century dwellings, the area behind Regent’s Quay was a warren of lanes of slum housing and industrial and warehousing units.


We know little of Alec’s first decade but it would appear unlikely that as a middle-class child he would have been permitted the freedom to roam these wynds and alleys, a freedom allowed to the local street urchins. We also do not know of his schooling at this time. The Education Act of 1872 introduced compulsory primary education for all over five years, but it stretches credibility somewhat to think that Alec would have gone to the local primary school. Parents educating their children at home were not obliged to send them to school, and one can surmise that Alec was home-educated at this time by a paid tutor, or in one of the several private elementary schools in the city. This practise was quite common amongst Aberdeen’s middle class, expanding in numbers and wealth as the city industrialised.


Aberdeen’s industrialisation in the 19th century was unique. Distant from the central belt of Scotland with the latter’s coal and iron resources, industry in Aberdeen utilised local raw materials from the land (granite, flax, wool) and sea (fish) to develop a broadly based economy dominated by textiles, food processing and light industry. The population of Aberdeen grew from about 25,000 in 1801 to over 150,000 in 1901. At the time of Kellas’ birth in 1868 it was approaching 100,000. Urbanisation in Aberdeen was also unique in that almost the entire population of the town, like the Kellases and the Mitchells themselves, were immigrants from the rural North East. This produced a town, or rather city, with a strong local identity and also a firmly provincial, some might say parochial, character. It also produced a town where many of the inhabitants still had strong family connections with the countryside. The Kellases were not unusual in this regard.


When Alexander Mitchell Kellas was born his father’s career was on a rising curve, and this was reflected by the subsequent building of a family house in the new and expanding middle class residential area of the city’s West End. Until the middle of the 19th century the Aberdonian middle class has generally lived geographically close to the working class, but increasing social segregation took place as the century passed, and by 1900 the social classes lived in broadly distinct areas. The residential pattern of Alexander Kellas’ family fits neatly into this process of growing social differentiation. Now a successful administrator in the world of commerce, James Kellas would be reluctant to bring up his increasing progeny by the Aberdeen dockside, and so in 1878 the family moved to 48 Carden Place, to a house that would be in family hands well into the 20th century. (No. 48 was then one in a block of two with No. 50, both of which have now been turned into the conjoint offices of a commercial company.)


Carden Place was a typical example of a residential street to which the lawyers, doctors and other upper professionals of the local middle class increasingly were moving, separating themselves from the slum and industrial areas of the city, and house building commenced in the street from the 1850s. Now the Kellas’ neighbours were not the colourful flotsam and jetsam of the harbour-side, carters, dockworkers and seamen, but people like clergymen, middling businessmen and a very large number of widows and spinsters living on annuities and investments. It must have been dull for the Kellas boys here after the delights of the dockside – even if those had been largely forbidden delights for them. The houses in Carden Place are solid middle class houses. These were too grand for the lower middle class, but they were also not the houses of the upper middle class, the granite palaces of the local plutocracy, which lay westwards towards Queens Road.


In the 1881 Census, it was noted that James F Kellas, who was then 62, had six children (and a nephew) living at No. 48, which was a large house of 11 rooms. Despite that, he had but one domestic servant and it thus appears that his wife – who was much younger than her husband at 36 – and the two teenage daughters would have assumed some of the domestic burdens of the large household. When JF Kellas died in 1905, apart from the Carden Place house itself, he left an estate of £1,102, 16s 5d. In modern terms this equates to between £75,000 and £100,000 – a substantial sum but not a great fortune. The Kellases were comfortably off, but they were not of the local bourgeois elite.


Middle class residential imperatives, then and now, are largely driven by two related motives; the desire for social separation from the working classes, and the search for good schooling. Carden Place lay very close, a brisk five minute walk, to Aberdeen Grammar School, which was the educational locus for the city’s (male) elite in the 19th century – and somewhat into the 20th. Aberdeen Grammar school was one of the oldest such institutions in Scotland, and was noted for its rigid classical (hence ‘grammar’) curriculum, largely oriented towards gaining University entrance. Teaching had traditionally consisted of four hours work a day, three of which were in Latin with English, History and Geography occupying the other hour. It had formerly been located in the Schoolhill area of Aberdeen and when there, one of its most famous alumni was the poet Lord Byron.
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PORTRAIT OF THE KELLAS CHILDREN.


Found in the Mitchell family album at Sluivannichie, and probably taken on a holiday there in the late 1880s. It shows Alec, unmistakable to the left, as well as probably Henry, John and Arthur, and the girls are possibly Helen and Margaret.


(Mitchell Family Collection)


In 1863 the school moved to a new larger building in the West End of the city, allowing it to expand its curriculum to include a wider range of subjects, the first of which was mathematics, with an hour a day given to instruction in that discipline. But it was not until it was taken over by the town council through the School Board in 1872 that the institution began to develop towards teaching what we would recognise as a modern syllabus, even though classics still dominated to an extent hard to credit today. However, by the 1880s modern languages had been introduced, as well as the teaching of science and physical education. Luckily for Alexander Kellas it was just after these expansions and reforms had taken place that he began to attend the Grammar School, otherwise he would probably have undergone the fate of most of Aberdeen’s previous middle class Grammar School and University graduates, that of becoming either a lawyer, a doctor, or a clergyman. Instead he was to become a research chemist who was to work with some of the leading figures of his day in the scientific field, including a Nobel Prize winner.


There is an indication even here in his Grammar School days that Alec was possibly a problematic youth, with a hint of the difficulties in his personality which would increase with time, culminating in severe psychosis many years later. The school had a six year secondary programme, which his brothers Henry and Arthur completed. But the Aberdeen Grammar School Roll of Pupils 1795–1919, shows that Alec attended the school from 1881–4, a mere three years. He joined late at 13, and left early, at 16. And his obituary in the Aberdeen Grammar School Magazine (XXIV, June 1921, No. 3, p.142–3) states that it was ‘Some time after leaving school’ that he entered Heriot Watt College in Edinburgh. Now Heriot Watt was a college, not a University and required lower entry qualifications, suggesting that Alec had failed to gain University entrance at the Grammar School. According to the Grammar School’s former pupils’ Magazine, after Heriot Watt, Alexander Kellas ‘then entered University College London, where he graduated BSC’.


There are almost as many accounts of Alec Kellas’ University training as there are obituaries of him. There is a letter written by Henry Kellas, Alec’s brother, to Arthur Hinks at the Royal Geographical Society, in response to a request from the latter for material for an obituary, that might at first appear to provide accurate details. (Henry Kellas to Hinks, 17.6.1921 (RGS Archives)) Collie and Scott (the latter following Collie) have Kellas going to Aberdeen University before Edinburgh (see bibliography). That is definitely false and Henry Kellas makes no mention of Kellas at Aberdeen, where there are no records of any attendance by him. The Cairngorm Club Journal (CCJ) and Scottish Mountaineering Club Journal (SMCJ) obituaries have him attending Heriot Watt College and then Edinburgh University, and according to Henry he spent two years in Edinburgh attending classes at these two institutions. However, Henry gives Alec’s dates at Edinburgh as 1889–91, and that would appear to be an error of memory. The academic records at UCL confirm that Kellas graduated from there in 1892, after enrolling in 1889. So it is likely that Kellas spent the year, or possibly two, previous to 1889 at Heriot Watt and Edinburgh University (though the latter institution is not mentioned in the Grammar School obituary, cited above), before transferring to UCL.


With its emphasis on science and technology Heriot Watt College especially was a good choice for Kellas, now intent on a scientific career. All this, however, means that his formal academic education – for whatever reason – was interrupted by almost three years, from 1884–7. Henry makes no mention of this and has Alec going directly from the Grammar School to his University studies. It is possible Henry was ‘massaging’ his brother’s educational career a little. Or possibly his memory was just faulty. Later in the letter Henry notes that Alec and ‘a younger companion’ (who was Henry himself!) slept out under the Shelter Stone when Alec was 14. When Alec slept under the Shelter Stone in 1885 he was 17, and it was Henry who was 14. Similarly Henry has his brother studying in Germany for his PhD in 1895–6, whilst the other sources give the date as 1896–7. Henry appears to have shared his brother Alec’s sloppiness regarding dates.


Outside the new Grammar School there stands a statue of its most famous student, Lord Byron. Though this statue was erected in the 1900s after Kellas had left the school, its erection was mooted long before and Byron was definitely the Grammar School’s main claim to fame at that time. The schoolboy Kellas could not have been unaware of him. The libertine Byron of reality had by the later 19th century been re-habilitated and sanitised as a role model for youth. One of the things deemed respectable about Byron by this time was his love of nature and particularly his youthful explorations of the Cairngorm Mountains around Braemar. This supposed Byronic love for nature was reflected in some of his poetry, such as Dark Lochnagar, which celebrates the poet’s purported ascent of the famous Cairngorm peak.5 It is doubtful that Byron’s sexual pecadillos were recounted to the pupils at the Grammar School.


It is interesting to speculate whether the young Grammarian Kellas pondered on Byron, and was inspired in some way by him. In the articles Kellas was later to compose about his mountain explorations, in contrast to many Victorian and Edwardian authors who were lavish with literary references in their writing, there is only one poetic reference. It is to Byron. And it was whilst at the Grammar School that the young Kellas made his first forays into the mountains. Could Alec have identified with the young Byron, who was himself an outcast, as a part-crippled child at the school, and have been attracted to the mountains because he, Kellas, was unsettled at school himself? Whatever the merits or otherwise of such a speculation, there was much more than the inspiration of Byron and his poetry driving a young man of the Aberdeen middle classes towards the mountains by the 1880s, the decade when Kellas discovered the Cairngorms.
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UNION STREET ABERDEEN 1880s.


Showing Union Street, Aberdeen’s main thoroughfare, at the time Alec would have been attending the Grammar School, and his father’s route to work in the docks, from Carden Place to the west.


Lying on the eastern fringe of the geological region created by the Highland Fault Line, the Cairngorm Mountains contain as their central core the highest land massif in Britain. There four summits reach more than 4,000ft, and around this heartland lies an area with many peaks of lesser height, such as Lochnagar. In a UK context it is a region with few roads and it contains large areas with almost no inhabitants. It is also, in winter, a sub-Arctic region and there is speculation that the last glaciers vanished only three or four centuries ago. Certainly in the 19th century there were still permanent snowfields, though these exist no more.


Nevertheless it was one of the regions of the Scottish Highlands to be first explored and opened up to outsiders. The terrain is not as rugged as it can be in the mountain regions to the westward, and the massif is penetrated by the River Dee, whose strath is fairly easily negotiable. In the 17th century an Atlas Maior of the world was produced in Amsterdam which contained many maps of Scotland. Of the areas covered in the Atlas, probably the best and most detailed mountain map is that which includes the Cairngorm Mountains or, as the wider area is often known, the Grampian Highlands.6


Even before the age of ‘tourism’ (a word coined in the early 19th century), a trickle of people had been attracted to the Highland area around Braemar for the most varied of reasons.7 In the first century AD, Roman legions had actually crossed the eastern area of these mountains, even possibly giving the name ‘Grampian’ to them by calling the site of a battle they had with local tribes Mons Graupius – mis-transcribed later as ‘Grampius’. One of the first definite ascents of a Cairngorm mountain was that of Mount Keen in 1618 by the eccentric English poet John Taylor, and later poachers, soldiers, bandits and others are recorded on the summits. After the 1745–6 rebellion, much of the area was investigated for its mineral and botanical resources by the Commissioners of Annexed or Forfeit Estates, who had taken over the lands of the Jacobite rebels. Working for them, James Robertson climbed Ben Avon and also probably Lochnagar in 1771. Improvement was also the motivation behind the journeys and ascents of the Rev George Keith who first ascended Ben MacDhui, Cairn Toul and Braeriach in 1810, publishing the next year his General View of the Agriculture of Aberdeenshire for the Board of Agriculture, a government body which encouraged farming improvements.


The region may have been penetrated but it was still not completely pacified. Until the middle of the 18th century the Deeside Highlands were a stronghold of Jacobitism with much support being given to the rebellions of 1715 and 1745–6, the first of these uprisings actually being launched in Braemar itself. Even after the crushing of the Jacobite threat, military garrisons remained at Braemar and Corgarff Castles to deal with the social banditry that was prevalent long afterwards. Armed conflicts with poachers and illicit distillers (both offences were punishable by death if ‘taken in arms’) continued till the early 1830s, when the troops were finally withdrawn from the area. Alexander Kellas’s great-grandfather in Glen Nochty would have witnessed the tail-end of this colourful period.


As it receded this lost world took on an increasingly romantic hue, which was given the stamp of royal approval when Queen Victoria and her Consort, Albert, rented the castle at Balmoral on Deeside in 1848. The pair ascended Lochnagar almost as soon as they took up residence and over the years until Albert’s death in 1861 they summitted on many of the Cairngorm mountains – though making only repeat, not first, ascents. But they were not alone. William MacGillivray, Professor of Natural History at Aberdeen University, had been wandering these mountains since before 1820, and the fruit of his lifetime’s labours, his Natural History of Deeside was brought out in 1855, shortly after he died from the effects of a chill caught due to exposure on Lochnagar. In 1864 John Hill Burton produced the first actual tourist and walking guide to the area. His The Cairngorm Mountains takes us from tales of the 1820s when he wandered the hills alone, encountering poachers and distillers, to the present when he describes the growing trend for ‘Alpine devotees’ and ‘Alpenstockists’ as he designates them, to visit the upland district. It is clear from studying Burton’s book that a definite mountain tourist industry, with transport, accommodation and guides was developing on Deeside at this time.
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BALLATER c1900.


The Deeside village which was the home of the Mitchells and the holiday destination of the Kellas family. Sluivannichie farm lay beyond the trees at the upper left of the picture. This was the base for Alec’s early mountain explorations.


Then in 1866 the railway line penetrated far into Deeside, and brought the romance of the vanished world of the Highland clans within the day-trip reach of the Aberdonian urban middle classes. Even though the railway line ended just beyond Ballater (due to opposition from Queen Victoria to its going all the way to Braemar and disturbing the peace of Balmoral), carriages quickly connected the rail passenger with points further, and the increasing trickle of individuals who had previously ventured into the mountains became a flood. The coaching business of Alexander Kellas’ uncle in Ballater was largely based on this demand.


People wanted to read about the romantic Highlands, including the Cairngorms, and there were those willing to supply the want. In 1868 appeared, from the pen of Victoria herself, the book Leaves from the Journal of our Life in the Highlands, which became a modest bestseller, the first 10,000 copies quickly needing a supplementary printing. As well as describing local Highland customs the book included accounts of her mountaineering expeditions, and undoubtedly encouraged others to follow. It was not only books which covered mountaineering, newspapers – and periodicals – quickly realised there was a great demand for fireside Alpinism, and responded to the need.


During the 1870s an Aberdeen newspaper printed several articles by Alexander Copland, a prominent local businessman and long-time mountain rambler, under the pseudonym Dryas Octopetala (the name of a flower found in the Cairngorms). These were so popular they were brought out in book form with his co-author Thomas Twayblade as Two Days and a Night in the Wilderness (1878) and Our Tour (1880). These are books full of handy information, such as the train timetables for Ballater, and recommendations such as the use of ‘those excellent and wonderfully cheap maps furnished by the Ordnance Survey. These maps, on the one inch to the mile scale [show] every road and path the tourist need take.’ But the writings of Copland indicate that a serpent had entered this Cairngorm Garden of Eden, in the form of the problem of mountain access.


Prior to the later Victorian period there were few concerns about access to the Scottish mountains, and those who had reason to wandered at will over land that was effectively worthless economically. The changes which took place in the Highland economy between, very roughly, the 1790s and the 1850s, resulted in the large scale replacement of people by sheep over much of this terrain. In the Cairngorms it was different, and land usage was not given over to sheep farming but to the hunting of deer and other animals. This resulted in the desire of proprietors to limit access to the hills, especially – but not only – during the actual shooting season itself. From the 1840s onwards walkers were often confronted and even molested by threatening – and armed – gamekeepers. Originally mainly a Central Highlands problem, the access issue spread to the Western Highlands as sheep-runs became steadily less profitable there, and were increasingly replaced by deer-forests.8


Like other walkers, Alexander Copland had had, and had recounted in print, his conflicts with the guardians of deer hunting, and he attacked




Our native Mumbo Jumbos who molest the traveller in Glen Derry, Glen Lui and other wilds (and attempt) selfishly, out of excessive relish for shooting deer… to prevent the inhabitants of this country from visiting its finest scenery, and turn back in disgust those who know no better. It is intolerable that this should be permitted.9





He denounced those who would ‘shut up every hill and glen in Scotland’ and asked fellow walkers to ‘treat such molestation with the contempt it deserves.’ For Copland this was not just an access issue, but a political one.


Copland, or Dryas Octopetala, to give him his botanical name, was a representative of the Liberal political interest which dominated the town of Aberdeen throughout the 19th century. Fighting for access fused with fighting against the landed interest as a whole. This landed interest was represented in the Conservative (later Conservative and Unionist) Party for Copland – and for many of his fellow mountaineers. When these early ramblers came together to form an association to promote mountaineering and mountaineering culture, access to the mountains themselves was to be one of its central objectives.


The Cairngorm Club, founded in 1887, was the first Scottish mountaineering club to have more than an ephemeral existence, and despite a patchy record of activity and publication at certain times, it still exists.10 Its pre-history (sketched above) and the club’s early years give us the framework of mountaineering in Aberdeen when the young Alexander made his first forays into the hills. The club had a foundation that must be sui generis. Alexander Copland, accompanied by five other stout pedestrians including the equally redoubtable Alexander Inkson McConnochie11 had climbed Ben MacDhui to set off fireworks to commemorate the Golden Jubilee of Queen Victoria on 22 June 1887. There the group enthusiastically startled every man and beast for a radius of 20 miles with their pyrotechnics.


They then descended the mountain to spend the night under the Shelter Stone, or in Gaelic Clach Dian, below the mountain by Loch Avon. This was a huge natural gite, formed by a cluster of massive boulders, which had been used as shelter by cattle drovers in former times, and before that, by bands of caterans, outlaws preying on travellers through the mountain passes, including reputedly the notorious Wolf of Badenoch back in the 14th century. The first representation of Clach Dian I am aware of is by Thomas Dick Lauder, showing a couple of Highlanders resting outside the gite, which is called by Lauder The Shelter Stone. It dates from July 1816. It is clear that this refuge was used by pedestrians very early in the 19th century, and I am glad to say that it is still being used by mountaineers 200 years later. It was to become a favourite haunt of Alec Kellas.


After what was admitted to be an uncomfortable night, our six splendid fellows, in the words of one of their members:




Spontaneously and unanimously agreed to form ourselves into the Cairngorm Club, the name being naturally suggested by the monarch mountain so full in view in the foreground, [Cairngorm, Authors’ Note] and calmly looking down on our meeting. Office bearers were elected by acclamation and with that generous and genial absence of exclusive selfishness which has always characterised our society, we resolved to open our ranks to the admission of men and women of heroic spirit, and possessed of souls open to the influences of enjoyment of nature pure and simple as displayed among our loftiest mountains.12





Fine words, but it took 18 months for the first meeting to be called and a Constitution drawn up. This has been lost alas, but the amended Rules of 1895 indicate that as well as encouraging mountain climbing, research into mountains and the spread of what we would now call ‘mountain culture’, and the publication of a Journal (first issued in 1894), the Club would ‘consider the right of access to Scottish mountains and adopt such measures in regard thereto as the Club may deem advisable’. This commitment to access was underlined by the appointment of James Bryce as the Club’s first President, a position he was to retain till 1922. (Bryce was also President of the Alpine Club 1899–1901.)


Bryce was the Liberal mp for Aberdeen South (the Liberal mp for Aberdeen North, Vernon Pirie, also joined the Club). Bryce – later Viscount Bryce – was a strong mountaineer, though not really a technical climber and his book Memories of Travel (1923) recounts his explorations and summit ascents worldwide. These included Hekla in Iceland, Ararat in Turkey and the Vignemale in the Pyrenees. Though born in Belfast, Bryce had been an enthusiastic walker in Scotland since his youth. But more than that he was an active campaigner for access rights. Bryce introduced on more than one occasion an Access to Moors and Mountains Bill to Parliament which would have legally enshrined the right of access to mountain land, but the bill was always defeated.


The Cairngorm Club’s first Excursion was in July 1889, when about 30 people took a special train from Aberdeen to Nethy Bridge on Speyside. They then climbed Cairngorm, and subsequently made an ascent of Ben MacDhui. This was followed in September by an ascent of Lochnagar. The party, 70 strong this time, took reserved carriages ‘naturally first class’ to Ballater and then ‘wagonettes and brakes’ up Glen Muick to where the ascent began. On the summit their right of access was re-stated by Alexander Copland, who also reminded them (this was a time of sometimes violent labour unrest and ‘outrages’ in Ireland), that the Club did not wish:
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MOUNT KEEN INVITE.


The invitation to the record-breaking ascent of Mount Keen by the Cairngorm Club in 1890. The solid fare on offer afterwards might have compensated for the horror of the lack of cushions on the train outwards.


(Cairngorm Club)




… to interfere with or usurp the rights of the proprietors of this or any other country. We are not Revolutionists, but loyal and law-abiding subjects: we are not enemies of game or legitimate sports… There need be no friction between us and the proprietors of the land, on the contrary, the interchange of kindly, considerate feeling and good offices.13





The last outing of significance during Alexander Kellas’ time in Aberdeen was that of the Club to Mount Keen, in May 1890. This outing reads as a wonderfully bizarre event to modern eyes, and it still probably ranks as the largest mass ascent of a Scottish mountain on record. On the occasion 162 people, of whom 45 were ladies, departed Aberdeen for Aboyne in reserved carriages. However, things were not well with the transport. Some of the carriages were without cushions, and three quarters of those travelling did so third class to show their disapproval of the ‘discourtesy shown by the Railway Company’. The excursion had been advertised in the local press as ‘An Easy Day for a Lady’ – but, no cushions! That’s taking things a bit far. From Aboyne carriages whisked them to Glentanar House, home of Sir William Cunliffe-Brooks, where tea was served in the ballroom, and then another seven miles were passed in the carriages till the start point.


The entire party reached the summit in just over an hour and a half from there, and, as the ascent of one 3,000ft mountain was then the criterion for membership, several people were admitted to the Club by the ceremony of ‘douping’ (sitting them on the summit cairn against their will. Doup = local vernacular for bottom.) A wonderful summit photograph was then taken of all 162 summiteers, showing the men dressed as if going to the office, in bowler hats and top hats, with many a shirt and tie in evidence, and the ladies, resplendent in plumed hats and even the occasional veil. The enormous logistical problems involved in this outing led to the Club soon deciding to stiffen entrance qualifications to include the ascent of at least one of the Cairngorm 4,000-ers. This had the desired effect of reducing numbers at subsequent outings. But let us leave this wonderful world of Victorian sociability, and return to the more isolated world of Alexander Kellas himself, though there are connections between the two.


NOTES


1The account given here of the Kellas family is largely based on the Manuscript Book complied by Mary Elsie J Kellas. She was the daughter of Alexander Kellas’ half-brother James NF Kellas. A typescript of this Manuscript Book contains material, in several hands, and of several dates – the latest having a provenance of 1950. Although at times confusing and difficult to follow, it is an invaluable source. Much of it is rather speculative regarding the origins of the Kellases back to the 15th century, but the material is sounder from the 19th century onwards. The Manuscript Book was held latterly by Henry Ronald Kellas, a GP in Swindon, who died in 1986. He was Alexander Kellas’ nephew, and one of the sons of his brother Henry. Another of Henry’s sons, Arthur, became Ambassador to Nepal 1966–70, and a friend of Sir Edmund Hillary, with whom he went walking.


2For an excellent account of the economic forces to which Alexander Kellas’ grandfather apparently fell victim, see Farm Life in Northeast Scotland 1840–1914, Ian Carter (1979).


3The economic and social development of Aberdeen is comprehensively covered in Aberdeen 1800–2000: A New History, ed. W Hamish Fraser and Clive H Lee (2000).


4See ‘Aberdeen Harbour – The Taming of the Dee’ by John S Smith, in Aberdeen in the Nineteenth Century (1988) ed. John S Smith and David Stevenson.


5Actually, despite Byron’s fulsome praise of Lochnagar, and contempt for ‘Albion’s plain’, once he left Aberdeen and Scotland, the poet never returned.


6Blaeu’s Atlas Maior was published in Amsterdam in 1654 and contained several maps of Scotland largely executed by and attributed to Timothy Pont. That of the North-East, Aberdonia & Banfia, is however by Robert Gordon of Straloch in Aberdeenshire. It shows us many Cairngorm summits, such as Cairngorm itself, Bheinn a’ Bhuird and Mount Keen, though all are spelled rather differently.


7See the section ‘The Cairngorms before the Climbers’ in Scotland’s Mountains before the Mountaineers, Ian R Mitchell (1998) for explorations there from c.1000–c.1850.


8The access issue, and its historical context, is dealt with in Ian R Mitchell, supra. The same author’s On the Trail of Queen Victoria, (2001) deals with the phenomenon of ‘Balmorality’.


9Two Days and a Night in the Wilderness, Dryas Octopetala and Thomas Twyablade (1878). p.7.


10The history of the club is sketched in The Cairngorm Club 1887–1987, Sheila Murray (1987). A more detailed account can be had from a study of the volumes of the Cairngorm Club Journal, published from 1894.


11Inkson McConnochie had already published his book Ben Muich Dhui and his Neighbours; a guide to the Cairngorm Mountains in 1885, and many articles on his explorations of the Cairngorms.


12Quoted in Murray, Op.Cit., p.2.


13Loc.Cit., pp.13–14.












CHAPTER TWO


Exploring the Cairngorm Mountains





Mountaineering Apprenticeship


ACCOUNTS OF KELLAS’ early years, for example in the several obituaries after his death or in the relevant Oxford Dictionary of National Biography (ODNB) entry, tend to talk in rather general terms of him wandering the mountains of Scotland as a youth at every possible opportunity and gaining a thorough knowledge of them. And this view is echoed in those more recent mountaineering histories which make mention of Kellas.1 From the records which are extant, such as his application to join the Scottish Mountaineering Club and the later application to join the Alpine Club, as well as from a long typewritten essay written as a schoolboy, which fortuitously remained in family hands2 and from other more fragmentary sources we can try and piece together Kellas’ early mountaineering experiences a little more accurately.


Kellas applied to join the Scottish Mountaineering Club (SMC) in November 1897, at which time he was working as an assistant to Professor Ramsay at the Gower Street chemical laboratories of the University College London (UCL). He was proposed for club membership by John Norman Collie, who was at that time becoming one of the most renowned mountaineers of the day and who also worked with Ramsay at UCL. Kellas was actually doubly seconded. The first of these seconders was Morris Travers, a further co-worker at Ramsay’s UCL laboratories, and the other was Colin Phillip, an artist friend of Collie’s (Phillip’s father, also a painter and rather more famous in that regard than his son, was interestingly originally from Aberdeen though he had subsequently moved to London). As well as being proposed and seconded by existing club members, SMC applicants had to append a list of their climbs to date, in Scotland and elsewhere. Thus Kellas’ application form allows us to assess the progress in mountaineering he had made by 1897, when he was nearing 30 years old.


Kellas lists almost 30 personal ascents of summits in Scotland over 3,000ft, far in excess of the 12 such climbs, spread over three or more years, that were the club’s entry qualifications at that time (See SMCJ Vol. 4, No. 1, p.69 for the original entry requirements). These 3,000ft Scottish hills were already becoming known as Munros after the name of the man, Sir Hugh Munro, who had attempted to make the first complete list of them all in 1891. A hugely creditable effort, Munro’s list has been subsequently partly revised by more accurate measurements. The SMC also asked that membership applicants have a minimum of two snow climbs in Scotland, and Kellas lists the requisite duo including a ‘Snow climb up gully with Prof. Collie’ on Ben Nevis in 1894. This would have been either No. 3 or No. 4 gullies, both of which were regular trade routes of ascent (and descent) by this time. (It is almost certain that the climb with Collie was in 1895, not 1894, since Kellas was not in attendance on Nevis with Collie’s party on the earlier date, see below.) Kellas was admitted as a member of the SMC the year following his application, that is in 1898.


The first recorded mountain ascent on the application form is given as our old friend Mount Keen, and the date recorded as 1883 when Kellas was 15. It is fairly safe to assume that Alexander, or Alec as he was always known to the family, climbed this hill from the residence of his mother’s relatives in Ballater, the farm of Sluivannichie. This supposition is strengthened by a consideration of his next mountaineering expedition, a full two years later, which certainly was launched from the family farm in the Deeside railway terminus town. Written at the age of 17 and carried out in the company of his two-years younger brother Henry, Alec’s account of the 1885 expedition is one of the longest records of his mountaineering that survive, alongside one or two of his later Himalayan articles. This extended narrative at first looks like it might have been a schoolboy’s essay, but the references in it to family matters makes it appear rather to have been written for domestic consumption. Anyway, by the time he wrote it Alec had dropped out of the Grammar School, so it was in all probability not written as an example of the classic ‘What I did on my holidays’ essay.
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